
ANTITRUST

The basic premise which justifies antitrust legislation is that
competition in the private market promotes various desirable so-
cial goals.1 The goals include efficient resource allocation, efficient
production and distribution, increased technological achievement,
high productivity, and price stability.2

During the current survey period, the Fifth Circuit rendered
fourteen decisions, necessitating application of the principal anti-
trust statutes: the Sherman Act,' the Clayton Act,4 and the Robin-
son-Patman Act.6 Each of the decisions will be discussed under one
or more of the various topics of antitrust law.

I. JURISDICTIONAL REACH OF THE SHERMAN ACT

Sections 16 and 27 of the Sherman Act prohibit "restraint of
trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign na-
tions "1 and attempts to "monopolize any part of the trade or com-
merce among the several States, or with foreign nations," respec-
tively. Although early interpretations of the Statute's broad
language were restrictive, 10 the Supreme Court subsequently deter-
mined that the reach of the Statute is coextensive with the com-
merce clause. 1 Two tests have been formulated to determine
whether the interstate commerce requirement has been satisfied in
order to bring particular conduct within the reach of the Sherman

1. L. SULLIVAN, HANDBOOK OF THE LAW OF ANTITRUST § 5, at 20-21 (1977) [hereinafter
cited as L. SULLIVAN].

2. Id. at 21.
3. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-7 (1976).
4. Id. 99 12-27 (1976).
5. Id. § 13 (1976).
6. Id. 9 1 (1976).
7. Id. § 2 (1976).
8. Id. 9 1 (1976).
9. Id. § 2 (1976).
10. See, e.g., United States v. E.C. Knight Co., 156 U.S. 1 (1895).
11. See Hospital Bldg. Co. v. Trustees of Rex Hosp., 425 U.S. 738 (1976); United

States v. Women's Sportswear Mfrs. Ass'n, 336 U.S. 460, 464 (1949); United States v. South-
Eastern Underwriters Ass'n, 322 U.S. 533 (1944). Congressional powers under the commerce
clause have few limitations. See, e.g., Perez v. United States, 402 U.S. 146 (1971) (purely
local acts of loansharking held part of a "national" problem).
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Act prohibitions. 2 First, under the "flow" theory, one may assert
that the conduct at issue is "in" or "in the flow of" interstate com-
merce.13 So long as the conduct is "in" interstate commerce, it is
immaterial whether the major impact of the conduct is purely lo-
cal. 1 4 Second, under the "effects" theory, one may assert that cer-
tain conduct, even though it is not "in the flow" of interstate com-
merce, is nonetheless a violation of the Sherman Act if the conduct
"substantially and adversely affects interstate commerce." ' Use of
the "effects" theory requires an inquiry into the materiality of the
impact on interstate commerce." Thus, the only acts beyond the
reach of the Sherman Act are those "which are local in the double
sense that they are neither within nor have any significant effect
on the flow of interstate commerce. ' 17

In contrast, the jurisdictional requirements of the Clayton Act
are much narrower. The defendant must have violated the speci-
fied provisions while "engaged in [interstate] commerce" with the
result of "substantially . . . lessen[ing] competition."1 " Thus,
purely interstate activities may not be within the jurisdictional
reaches of the Clayton Act but may be within the "effects" theory
aspect of the Sherman Act. 9

During the current survey period, the court considered the in-
terstate commerce requirement for jurisdiction under both the
Sherman Act and the Clayton Act. In Alabama Homeowners, Inc.
v. Findahome Corp.,20 the plaintiff, a real estate broker, claimed
that two publishers of residential real estate guides conspired, in
violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act, by rejecting his adver-
tisements.22 According to the plaintiff, the refusal was based on the
plaintiff's use of a flat fee commission rather than the standard

12. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 233, at 709.
13. Burke v. Ford, 389 U.S. 320, 321 (1967).
14. United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 223-24 (1940).
15. Hospital Bldg. Co. v. Trustees of Rex Hosp., 425 U.S. 738, 743 (1976).
16. Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421 U.S. 773, 785 (1975) (citing United States v.

Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150 (1940)).
17. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 233, at 710.
18. 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1976).
19. United States v. American Bldg. Maintenance Indus., 422 U.S. 271 (1975). The

restrictive jurisdictional reach is also applicable to the Robinson-Patman Act. See Gulf Oil
Corp. v. Copp Paving Co., 419 U.S. 186 (1974).

20. 640 F.2d 670 (5th Cir. Mar. 1981).
21. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976).
22. 640 F.2d at 671-72.
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percentage fee.2 s Both magazines were limited to residential realty
located in Mobile and Baldwin Counties in Alabama." The district
court granted the defendants' motion for a directed verdict on the
ground of insufficient evidence of antitrust violations.2" In its re-
view of the decision, the Fifth Circuit held that the evidence was
insufficient on the preliminary issue of interstate commerce, and
therefore, the jurisdictional requirement was not met.2' According
to the court, the plaintiff had relied on a misinterpretation of the
recent Supreme Court decision in McLain v. Real Estate Board of
New Orleans, Inc." Relying on McLain, the Fifth Circuit noted
that it is not enough for an antitrust plaintiff to identify a "rele-
vant local activity and to presume an interrelationship with some
unspecified aspect of interstate commerce"; 8 there must be proof
of a substantial effect on interstate commerce. Thus, the Fifth Cir-
cuit reaffirmed the threshold jurisdictional requirement that in an
"effects" case the effect on interstate commerce must be demon-
strated and substantial.

In Jim Walter Corp. v. FTC,"9 Jim Walter Corporation
(JWC), a holding company, challenged a Federal Trade Commis-
sion (FTC) divestment order relating to the acquisition of Panacon
Corporation by Celotex, a wholly owned subsidiary of JWC. 0 JWC
challenged the administrative law judge's determination that JWC

23. Id. at 672-73. Plaintiff alleged that it was the only broker in the market using the
flat fee. Plaintiff had advertised the flat fee in one of the defendants' publications for two
months. Subsequent advertisements were refused when that particular publisher changed its
advertisement policy by refusing all advertisements with any reference to fees, either per-
centage or flat. After this refusal, plaintiff approached the second defendant, which refused
the advertisement for the same reason. Id.

24. Id. at 672.
25. Id. at 673.
26. Id. at 674. The evidence included one sale of a residence by the plaintiff to a non-

resident of Alabama and the existence of a real estate brokerage association in Mobile
County that sold homes subject to VA and FHA financing. Id. at 673-74.

27. 444 U.S. 232 (1980), cited in Alabama Homeowners, Inc. v. Findahome Corp., 640
F.2d at 673. McLain explained the proof required for an "effects" theory case. In McLain
the plaintiff proved an effect on interstate commerce through out-of-state bank loans and
national title insurance companies. 444 U.S. at 245.

28. Id. (citing McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 444 U.S. 232, 242 (1980)).
29. 625 F.2d 676 (5th Cir. Sept. 1980).
30. Id. at 678. Celotex manufactured construction-related materials including asphalt

and tar roofing products. Panacon also manufactured construction-related materials includ-
ing a line of asphalt and tar roofing products. Prior to the acquisition, their respective na-
tional market ranks were fifth and sixth. The post-acquisition corporation was the second
largest in the national market. Id.
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was "engaged in commerce" within the meaning of section 7 of the
Clayton Act and thus subject to the FTC order."' As a holding
company, JWC asserted that it could not be "engaged in com-
merce" because its activities were conducted through subsidiaries
and such activities could not be imputed to the parent.8 2 The Fifth
Circuit denied JWC's assertion, noting that holding companies and
their acquisitions were the primary target of section 7.1s Although
under these facts the parent was subject to the Clayton Act, the
court noted that a parent and a subsidiary would not necessarily
be viewed as a single entity in all cases."

In Pan-Islamic Trade Corp. v. Exxon Corp.,35 the Fifth Cir-
cuit examined the standing requirements of the Clayton Act.80

Under section 4, private parties are granted the power to bring an-
titrust actions seeking treble damages.8 7 In determining whether a
plaintiff has standing, the Fifth Circuit utilizes the "target area"
test.38 Under this test, the complainant must show that he is the
"one against whom the conspiracy is aimed" and "that he is within
that sector of the economy which is endangered by a breakdown of
competitive conditions in a particular industry."80 The "target
area" test is intended to limit the number of treble damages to
which a defendant might be exposed. 0 In Pan-Islamic the Fifth
Circuit found the plaintiff's allegations insufficient to demonstrate

31. Id.; 15 U.S.C. § 18 (1976).
32. 625 F.2d at 680. "A corporation is engaged in commerce only if it is 'directly en-

gaged in the production, distribution or acquisition of goods or services in interstate com-
merce.' Id. (citing United States v. American Bldg. Maintenance Indus., 422 U.S. 271, 283
(1975)).

33. 625 F.2d at 680. See Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294, 314 (1962);
United States v. Celanese Corp. of America, 91 F. Supp. 14, 17 (S.D.N.Y. 1950).

34. 625 F.2d at 681 (dictum).
35. 632 F.2d 539 (5th Cir. Dec. 1980).
36. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976).
37. Id. Section 4 of the Clayton Act provides:
Any person who shall be injured in his business or property by reason of anything
forbidden in the antitrust laws may sue therefor in any district court of the
United States. . .and shall recover threefold the damages by him sustained, and
the cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

Id.
38. Yodin Bros. v. California-Florida Plant Corp., 537 F.2d 1347, 1358 (5th Cir. 1976),

cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1094 (1977); Jeffrey v. Southwestern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129, 1131 (5th
Cir. 1975).

39. Jeffrey v. Southwestern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129, 1131 (5th Cir. 1975).
40. Cf. Hawaii v. Standard Oil Co., 405 U.S. 251 (1972) (standing of states to sue

under § 4).
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standing with regard to four of the five areas of alleged monopoli-
zation of petroleum industry operations."' Pan-Islamic claimed
that it had been the victim of a conspiracy among major oil compa-
nies to boycott Algerian crude oil.4 2 Pan-Islamic's sole business ac-
tivity concerned its attempted marketing of Algerian crude oil,
which it contracted to purchase at a rate apparently well below the
then market prices.43 The court drew a comparison with its 1979
decision in In re Beef Industry Antitrust Litigation," noting that
here the plaintiff's allegations were even less favorable to a finding
of inclusion in the "target area.' '  In Pan-Islamic the court ex-
amined each of the five areas of alleged monopolization ' and
noted that the plaintiff failed to allege any relationship with the
overall petroleum industry or the five specific operational areas
other than the single contract to purchase Algerian crude oil.'7 Nor
did the plaintiff even allege any intent to remain in the oil broker-
age business after the completion of this single transaction." Only
the allegation related to refining could arguably place the plaintiff
within the target area; however, the court found no abuse of discre-
tion in the trial court's dismissal of the complaint." The holding is
consistent with the court's prior applications of the "target area"
test.10

41. 632 F.2d at 548. Pan-Islamic alleged that the defendants attempted to monopolize
the following five areas of the petroleum industry: "(1) [e]xploration and production of
crude oil; (2)[tlransportation of crude oil; (3) [r]efining crude oil; (4) [t]ransportation of
refined petroleum products; and (5) [m]arketing of refined petroleum products." Id. at 545.
The allegations in the complaint are examined to determine standing. Id. at 547. See In re
Beef Indus. Antitrust Litigation, 600 F.2d 1148, 1168 (5th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 101 S. Ct.
280 (1980).

42. Id. at 542.
43. Id. at 542-45. Pan-Islamic was formed by a small group of investors apparently

uninitiated in international trade. The corporation's first and only trade transaction was a
contract to purchase from Sonatrach, the national oil company of Algeria, eighty million
barrels of crude oil at $2.98 per barrel f.o.b. Algeria with an option for forty million addi-
tional barrels at the same price. Id.

44. 600 F.2d 1148 (5th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 101 S. Ct. 280 (1980). In re Beef Indus-
try involved allegations of price-fixing at the retail level by grocers. The Fifth Circuit found
that the farmers and ranchers who brought the suit did not have standing. Id. at 1168.

45. 632 F.2d at 548.
46. See note 41 supra.
47. 632 F.2d at 545-48.
48. Id. at 547.
49. Id. at 548.
50. See In re Beef Indus. Antitrust Litigation, 600 F.2d 1148 (5th Cir. 1979), cert.

denied, 101 S. Ct. 280 (1980); Donovan Constr. Co. v. Florida Tel. Corp., 564 F.2d 1191 (5th
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II. SHERMAN ACT SECTION 1

A. Rule of Reason Versus Per Se Analysis

The broad proscriptive language of section 1 of the Sherman
Act,51 if read literally, would label every contract a restraint of
trade since the parties to any contract are limited in number. The
Supreme Court, in Standard Oil Co. v. United States,"2 avoided
the literal interpretation by adopting a "rule of reason" analysis.5

Determining whether there are "undue limitations on competitive
conditions"" is the standard of analysis.

Application of the rule of reason requires a time-consuming
case-by-case analysis to determine whether the restraint is unrea-
sonable and thus prohibited or merely incidental and thus accept-
able. The courts' continual review of certain business relationships
with their "pernicious effect[s] on competition and lack of any re-
deeming virtue '5 5 led to the adoption in 1940 of the "per se" rule:"

[C]ertain agreements or practices [exist] which . . . are conclu-
sively presumed to be unreasonable and therefore illegal without
elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they have caused or the
business excuse for their use. This principle of per se unreasona-
bleness not only makes the type of restraints which are pro-
scribed by the Sherman Act more certain to the benefit of every-
one concerned, but it also avoids the necessity for an incredibly
complicated and prolonged economic investigation into the entire
history of the industry involved, as well as related industries, in
an effort to determine at large whether a particular restraint has
been unreasonable-an inquiry so often wholly fruitless when
undertaken.

5
1

Because categorization of an activity as a per se violation of

Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S. 1007 (1978); Southern Concrete Co. v. United States Steel
Corp., 535 F.2d 313 (5th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1096 (1977); Jeffrey v. Southwest-
ern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129 (5th Cir. 1975).

51. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976). The section provides: "Every contract, combination in the
form of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the sev-
eral States, or with foreign nations, is declared to be illegal." Id.

52. 221 U.S. 1 (1911).
53. Id. at 58.
54. Id.
55. Northern Pac. Ry. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1, 5 (1958).
56. United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150 (1940).
57. Northern Pac. Ry. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1, 5 (1958).
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the Sherman Act virtually forecloses any defense, the courts are
reluctant to so categorize certain acts until they have had sufficient
experience in reviewing them.5 8 Further, once an activity has been
categorized as a per se violation, it is difficult to make a prospec-
tive application due to actual variances among cases. Determining
whether the rule of reason or the per se rule will apply in a given
case is equally difficult. 9 During the survey period, the Fifth Cir-
cuit applied both rules in two cases: one, involving a group boycott
and, a second, involving a private plaintiff alleging unfair
competition.

The Fifth Circuit rejected the Government's request to treat
certain membership requirements in a realty multiple listing ser-
vice as per se violations in United States v. Realty Multi-List,
Inc.60 Realty Multi-List (RML) was the only listing service organi-
zation in Muscogee County, Georgia and had several formal admis-
sion requirements. 1 Regarding these requirements, the Govern-
ment made three assertions: (1) the rules were so blatantly
anticompetitive that they violated the per se rule; (2) if not a viola-
tion of the per se rule, then the rules were overbroad and anticom-
petitive and a violation under the rule of reason; or (3) if not con-
demned under the two rules, then the anticompetitive effects of
the requirements outweighed the benefits.' Although the district

58. United States v. Topco Assocs., 405 U.S. 596, 607-08 (1972).
59. See Dougherty v. Continental Oil Co., 579 F.2d 954 (5th Cir. 1978), vacated and

appeal dismissed per stipulation, 591 F.2d 1206 (5th Cir. 1978), in which the court found
ten possible classifications for the challenged transaction-five categorized under the "rule
of reason" and five categorized under the "per se" rule. 579 F.2d at 958-59.

60. 629 F.2d 1351 (5th Cir. Nov. 1980).
61. Id. at 1357-58. Prior to the suit, RML's membership criteria were as follows: (1) a

Georgia real estate broker's license, (2) agreement to abide by RML's internal rules, (3)
favorable recommendation by RML's membership committee, (4) an affirmative vote by
85% of RML's active members, and (5) purchase of RML stock at a price and subject to
conditions set by RML's Board of Directors. During pretrial negotiations with the Govern-
ment, RML amended the rules twice. In the first amendment the membership voting re-
quirement was reduced to a simple majority. The second amendment eliminated member-
ship voting and established the current membership requirements: (1) maintaining an active
real estate office in Muscogee County and (2) having a favorable credit report and business
reputation. The first requirement was construed to mean an office open during customary
business hours; the second, a credit bureau report containing personal as well as financial
information. The stock purchase requirement remained. However, the price per share was
lowered from $3,000 to $1,000. Id. at 1358.

62. Id. at 1360. Although RML had changed the membership rules, the Government
contended that the past practices were not moot and that the judgment should cover both
past and present rules. Id.
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court found the Government's claim concerning RML's past prac-
tices moot and apparently made only a cursory review of the law
relating to the topic,6 the Fifth Circuit held that the past rules
were still open to question" and made a detailed analysis of the
industry and related law.

In determining which rule was applicable, the court examined
the issue by way of reference to cases involving boycotts and con-
certed refusals to deal.6 Because the per se rule forecloses investi-
gation into the procompetitive rationales for the contested activity,
the courts must be careful in application of the rule.6 6 While an
activity may fall within an established per se category, procompeti-
tive effects may outweigh the incidental violative aspects.17 The
court noted that the standard of review is that the restraint must
be "plainly anticompetitive" and without any "redeeming vir-
tue."' 8 The competition protected by the Sherman Act is that
which yields the "best allocation of our economic resources, the
lowest prices, the highest quality and the greatest material pro-
gress . . . " Thus, a per se violation is an activity which plainly
does not promote economic efficiency.70 Although RML's conduct
fell within an established category of per se violations-boycotts, the
Fifth Circuit looked to "whether this type of group boycott falls
within the above rationale of the per se rule."'1 In its review of
multiple listing services in general, and RML in particular, the
court noted several incidental factors promoting market efficiency
that antitrust law should take into account.72 The court held that

63. Id. at 1359.
64. Id. at 1387-88.
65. Id. at 1361.
66. See Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia Broadcasting Sys., Inc., 441 U.S. 1 (1979).
67. See 629 F.2d at 1363.
68. Id. (quoting Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia Broadcasting Sys., Inc., 441 U.S. 1,

9 (1979)).
69. Northern Pac. Ry. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1, 4 (1958).
70. See United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 441 n.16 (1978).
71. 629 F.2d at 1365. The court found the following three categories of per se collec-

tive refusals to deal: (1) horizontal combinations among traders at the same level of distri-
bution, see Eastern States Retail Lumber Dealers' Ass'n v. United States, 234 U.S. 600
(1914); (2) vertical combinations among traders at different marketing levels, see Klor's, Inc.
v. Broadway-Hale Stores, Inc., 359 U.S. 207 (1959); and (3) combinations designed to influ-
ence coercively the trade practices of the boycott victims, see Fashion Originators' Guild of
America v. FTC, 312 U.S. 457 (1941). 629 F.2d at 1366.

72. 629 F.2d at 1367-69. Due to the immobility of realty and its uniqueness, maximum
exchange of information is important. By increasing the available number of properties and
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these factors were of sufficient benefit to prevent classification as
per se and then evaluated the same activities under the rule of
reason.7

3 In applying the more flexible rule of reason, the court ex-
amined two broad areas necessary to any finding that certain con-
duct violates antitrust law. 4 The complainant must show that the
other party's exclusionary conduct was capable of harming compe-
tition and that the other party possessed sufficient economic power
in the relevant market. 5 Here, the exclusionary impact was mani-
fest because of the degree to which the association entered into the
member's business and its power to shape the economic environ-
ment.76 Regarding the power in the relevant market, the court
found the record insufficient to decide the issue, but did remand
the case for a determination whether RML possessed sufficient ec-
onomic power to deny others the ability to compete effectively. 77 In
holding that the rule of reason controlled under these facts, the
Fifth Circuit has demonstrated that it will evaluate even appar-
ently per se violations to determine whether any procompetitive
factors are present.78

In Associated Radio Service Co. v. Page Airways, Inc.,7e the
Fifth Circuit followed its 1978 holding in Northwest Power Prod-
ucts, Inc. v. Omark Industriess" that a private plaintiff alleging un-
fair competition must prove injury to competition and cannot rely

prospective purchasers and sellers, various imperfections in the market are reduced with a
theoretical resulting reduction in price because of increased supply. Id.

73. Id. at 1369-70. Though labeled the "facial" theory, the court was in fact applying
the rule of reason.

74. Id. at 1370-74. The rule of reason does not foreclose analysis of relevant market
factors as does the per se rule.

75. Id.
76. Id. at 1370-72.
77. Id. at 1372-74. For purposes of this appeal, the court presumed that RML pos-

sessed the requisite market power. Determining market power is inherently subjective; how-
ever, the court did provide what it viewed as three objective factors: (1) the number of
brokers (the greater the number of brokers using a particular service the greater the harm
due to exclusion); (2) the total dollar amount of annual sales, and (3) the percentage of sales
out of total listings on an annual basis. Id. at 1373-74 (citing Austin, Real Estate Boards
and Multiple Listing Systems as Restraints of Trade, 70 COLUM. L. REv. 1325, 1346 (1970)).

78. 629 F.2d at 1388-89. The Fifth Circuit determined that RML's objective of ob-
taining quality members could be achieved with less exclusionary rules. The financial and
stock purchase requirements did not provide for any objective determination criteria. The
district court decision was reversed and remanded. Id. at 1370-80.

79. 624 F.2d 1342 (5th Cir. Aug. 1980).
80. 576 F.2d 83 (5th Cir. 1978).
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on the per se rule.8' Associated Radio alleged that Page, by means
of various unfair practices, had effectively eliminated all of Page's
competitors for the particular aircraft outfitting market.8 " The
court reiterated the two-part test set out in Northwest Power
which required that the plaintiff demonstrate "(1) a market effect
that would be prohibited under the law of mergers; and (2) other
conduct by defendant that threatens Sherman Act values." 8 The
first part requires a determination whether the market impact
caused by the defendant's conduct would be illegal if achieved
through a merger.84 The second part requires reference to the de-
fendant's conduct in the market, changes in relative market shares,
or other factors which demonstrate the defendant's "dramatic mar-
ket power. '8 5 The two-part test is intended to provide objective
criteria as to what constitutes "unfair competition."" Under the
Fifth Circuit approach, "unfair competition" is still competition
and does not run afoul of the antitrust laws unless it results in an
elimination of competition.8

B. Conscious Parallelism

In Interstate Circuit, Inc. v. United States,8" the Supreme
Court recognized that an express agreement between parties is not
necessary to violate the antitrust laws.8 9 Although parallel conduct
may imply an agreement, its mere existence is not conclusive.' 0

In Pan-Islamic Trade Corp. v. Exxon Corp., ' the Fifth Cir-
cuit established the proof required of a plaintiff relying on the the-

81. Id. at 90.
82. 624 F.2d at 1345-46. For a more complete discussion of Associated Radio, see

notes 128-36 infra, and accompanying text.
83. Id. at 1351.
84. Id. See generally United States v. Citizens & S. Nat'l Bank, 422 U.S. 86 (1975);

United States v. Marine Bancorporation, Inc., 418 U.S. 602 (1974); United States v. General
Dynamics Corp., 415 U.S. 486 (1974).

85. Northwest Power Prods., Inc. v. Omark Indus., 576 F.2d 83, 89 (5th Cir. 1978),
cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979).

86. Id. at 90.
87. Id. at 88-89. Cf. Albert Pick-Barth Co. v. Mitchell Woodburt Corp., 57 F.2d 96 (1st

Cir.), cert. denied, 286 U.S 552 (1932).
88. 306 U.S. 208 (1939).
89. Id. Interstate Circuit involved a theatrical film exhibitor that refused to deal with

distributors which dealt with competitors of the exhibitor.
90. Theatre Enterprises v. Paramount Film Distrib. Corp., 346 U.S. 537 (1954).
91. 632 F.2d 539 (5th Cir. Dec. 1980). See notes 35-50 supra, and accompanying text.
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ory of conscious parallelism.'2 The court held that a plaintiff must
first show that the defendants "engaged in consciously parallel
conduct" and second, that to do so "was contrary to their economic
self-interest so as not to amount to a good faith business judg-
ment."'" In Pan-Islamic certain major oil companies contacted by
the plaintiff each refused to purchase Algerian crude oil from the
plaintiff.' The court viewed this as "clearly parallel conduct." 5

However, the refusals were based on demonstrated good-faith busi-
ness judgments that the plaintiff failed to rebut." Thus, while a
plaintiff may be able to show parallel conduct, an action will not
be available unless proof exists that such conduct was not due to
independent, good-faith business decisions.

C. Concept of Contract, Combination, or Conspiracy

"Every contract, combination in the form of trust or other-
wise, or conspiracy" that restrains trade is violative of section 1 of
the Sherman Act.' 7 In Wegmann v. London,98 the Fifth Circuit re-
viewed provisions of a partnership agreement that the plaintiff al-
leged were violative of section 1.99 The court viewed the provisions
with their "prohibitive magnitudes of liquidated damages" as "de
facto covenants not to compete."100 Although the district court had
dismissed for want of subject matter jurisdiction,101 the Fifth Cir-
cuit noted that once the provisions were viewed as covenants not
to compete, they were proper subjects for scrutiny under section
1.101 While the court did not pass on the merits of the plaintiff's

92. Id. at 558-59.
93. Id.
94. Id. at 558-61.
95. Id. at 561.
96. Id. at 561-65. The plaintiff's asking price was above each of the defendant's alter-

native supply prices. Id. at 561-63.
97. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976).
98. 648 F.2d 1072 (5th Cir. June 1981).
99. Id. at 1072-73. The challenged provisions governed withdrawal of a partner from

the accounting firm. Depending on whether one was an equity or income partner and the
length of time since the partner left the firm, a withdrawn partner was required to pay the
partnership between 100% and 200% of fees collected from clients previously served by the
firm. Id.

100. Id. at 1073.
101. Id.
102. Id. (citing Newburger, Loeb & Co. v. Gross, 563 F.2d 1057, 1082 (2d Cir. 1977),

cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1035 (1978)).
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claim, it did add another contract provision to the list of claims
cognizable under section 1.103

In Pan-Islamic Trade Corp. v. Exxon Corp.,04 the Fifth Cir-
cuit followed the Supreme Court's holding in First National Bank
v. Cities Service Co.,' 0 5 that a plaintiff must prove an alleged con-
spiracy by "significant probative evidence."'" Pan-Islamic's cir-
cumstantial evidence was based on the theory of conscious paral-
lelism, a theory the plaintiff failed to prove as discussed above.107

The Fifth Circuit's continued requirement that "significant proba-
tive evidence" be presented is consistent with its prior holdings.108

D. Refusals to Deal

Two cases during the survey period involved alleged refusals
to deal resulting from a conspiracy.109 In General Chemicals v. Ex-
xon Chemicals Co., USA," 0 the plaintiff, General Chemicals, al-
leged that Exxon and Claude Bamberger Molding Compounds
Corporation conspired to force plaintiff out of the polyethylene
scrap business."' In reviewing the district court's grant of sum-
mary judgment for the defendants," 2 the Fifth Circuit noted that

103. 648 F.2d at 1073-74. The court noted that no case law existed with regard to this
type of provision. Id. at 1073.

104. 632 F.2d 539 (5th Cir. Dec. 1980). For further discussion of Pan-Islamic, see
notes 35-50, 91-96 supra, and accompanying text.

105. 391 U.S. 253 (1968). Cities Service was similar factually to Pan-Islamic. In Cities
Service, the plaintiff's attempts to market Iranian oil were allegedly blocked by a conspiracy
among major oil companies. Id. at 259-61.

106. Id. at 290.
107. 632 F.2d at 555. See notes 91-96 supra, and accompanying text.
108. See Aviation Specialities, Inc. v. United Technologies Corp., 568 F.2d 1186 (5th

Cir. 1978); Solomon v. Houston Corrugated Box Co., 526 F.2d 389 (5th Cir. 1976); Scranton
Constr. Co. v. Litton Indus. Leasing Corp., 494 F.2d 778 (5th Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 419
U.S. 1105 (1975).

109. In the second case, Malcolm v. Marathon Oil Co., 642 F.2d 845 (5th Cir. Apr.
1980), the Fifth Circuit presumed illegal intent on the refusal to deal issue. The trial court
did not direct a verdict on that issue.

110. 625 F.2d 1231 (5th Cir. Sept. 1980).
111. Id. at 1232. Exxon's chemical refinery at Baton Rouge, Louisiana produced large

amounts of low-density polyethylene scrap as a by-product of its usual operations. Exxon
lacked sufficient on-site storage capacity, so a major consideration in evaluating a purchaser
of the scrap was ability to remove it. Bids for the scrap were accepted periodically. Even
though General Chemical outbid Bamberger on one occasion, Bamberger still received a
greater quantity of the scrap. In later quarters all of the scrap was sold to Bamberger. Id.

112. Id. at 1232-33. The plaintiff had amended the complaint to add an allegation of
violation of § 2(a) of the Robinson-Patman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1976). The district court
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while a seller " 'has the right to select its customers and to refuse
to sell its goods to anyone for reasons sufficient for itself,' 1183 a
seller does "not have an antitrust carte blanche to select those
with whom [it] will deal.' ' 14 The issue is whether the refusal to
deal is based on an illegitimate consideration, which results in an
unreasonable restraint on trade."" In affirming the district court,
the Fifth Circuit found no evidence to support a reasonable infer-
ence of a conspiracy." 6 The case demonstrates the difficulty in
proving a conspiracy. While direct evidence is not necessary, cir-
cumstantial evidence must at least support a reasonable infer-
ence.1 7 Here, the plaintiff failed to provide any reason why a con-
spiracy might exist." 8

III. SHERMAN ACT SECTION 2

Section 2 of the Sherman Act makes it unlawful for a person
to "monopolize, or attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire
with any other person or persons, to monopolize any part of the
trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign na-
tions. . ... ""9 It is the act of monopolizing, rather than a monop-
oly itself, that is subject to the prohibition. Two basic elements are
required to prove monopolization: "(1) the possession of monopoly
power in the relevant market and (2) the willful acquisition or
maintenance of that power as distinguished from growth or devel-
opment as a consequence of a superior product, business acumen,
or historic accident." 20 Possession of monopoly power is the abil-

order never mentioned the price discrimination claim; however, the Fifth Circuit considered
it included in the order since the summary judgment was "on all causes." 625 F.2d at 1232-
33.

113. 625 F.2d at 1232 (citing Southern Distrib. Co. v. Southdown, Inc., 574 F.2d 824,
827 (5th Cir. 1978)).

114. 625 F.2d at 1233 (citing Alladin Oil Co. v. Texaco, Inc., 603 F.2d 1107, 1115 (5th
Cir. 1979)).

115. 625 F.2d at 1233.
116. Id. at 1234 (citing First Nat'l Bank v. Cities Serv. Co., 391 U.S. 253 (1968)). The

court decided that an action under the Robinson-Patman Act could not be maintained be-
cause all of the scrap was shipped abroad and, thus, was not within the Act's requirement
that the goods be sold "for use, consumption, or resale within the United States." 15 U.S.C.
§ 13(a) (1976). 625 F.2d at 1234.

117. 625 F.2d at 1233-34.
118. Id. at 1234.
119. 15 U.S.C. § 2 (1976).
120. United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 570-71 (1966).
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ity to fix prices or exclude competition in the relevant market.12'
Determination of the parameters of the relevant market is difficult
because of numerous methods of product differentiation, geo-
graphic boundaries, and relative market power.12

A. Relevant Market

The Fifth Circuit has defined the relevant market as the
"framework against which economic power can be measured"' 2

and has held that the determination of the relevant market is
merely a matter of reviewing the facts. 24 Defining this "frame-
work" requires review of both the geographic and product mar-
kets."25 The geographic area subject to competition among the par-
ties is the "relevant market."' "12 The relevant product is defined as
"commodities reasonably interchangeable by consumers for the

"1127same purposes ....
In Associated Radio Service Co. v. Page Airways, Inc.,"58 the

Fifth Circuit reviewed Associated's allegations of Page's monopoli-
zation of the aircraft outfitting business."2 The jury had found for
the plaintiff, and the Fifth Circuit affirmed.13 0 Page challenged the
jury findings that the relevant product market was avionics instal-
lation in Grumman Gulfstream II "(G-II) business jets and that the
relevant geographic market was the world.' 3 ' The relevant market,

121. United States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S. 377, 391 (1956).
122. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 19.
123. Spectrofuge Corp. v. Beckman Instruments, Inc., 575 F.2d 256, 276 (5th Cir.

1978).
124. Id.
125. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 19, at 68.
126. Id.
127. United States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S. 377, 395 (1956), in

which the court considered what products were interchangeable with du Pont's cellophane
wrap. Id.

128. 624 F.2d 1342 (5th Cir. Aug. 1980), cert. denied, 101 S. Ct. 1740 (1981).
129. Id.
130. Id. at 1348. The court, however, reversed the decision for one individual defen-

dant. Id. at 1363.
131. Id. at 1348-50. The Grumman Gulfstream II, like many large corporate aircraft,

was sold by the manufacturer "green," that is, without exterior paint, interior, or avionics.
Both the plaintiff and the defendant were engaged in the outfitting business. Page was the
exclusive dealer for green G-II's through its subsidiary Page Gulfstream, Inc. In 1968 Page
and Associated entered into an agreement whereby Page would sell the green G-II's and
Associated would perform necessary outfitting, including both avionics and interiors. In
1971 Page entered the G-II outfitting business after hiring away certain key personnel from
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according to Page, was much larger-the "installation of avionics
and interiors in all turbine-powered private aircraft."' 3 ' Page also
challenged the trial court's instructions on determining the rele-
vant market. " The Fifth Circuit found the jury's decision sup-
ported by the evidence and approved the consideration of eight
factors in determining the relevant product market.'" The factors
used in the trial court's jury charge and approved by the Fifth Cir-
cuit will vary in importance depending on the circumstances in
each case. In Associated Radio, the "high entry barriers" to pro-
spective G-II avionics outfitters appeared to be critical.3 5 Thus,
there was virtually no reasonable interchangeability of the service
since new competitors chose not to undertake the expense and
time necessary to outfit the single aircraft type.'s

B. Monopoly Power

Regarding the jury finding in Associated Radio that Page pos-
sessed monopoly power, most of Page's challenges were to the suffi-
ciency of the evidence.8 7 Essentially, Page contended that its busi-
ness torts inflicted on Associated were not exclusionary, because
they did not harm overall competition.'" Although not stating
whether such harm to a single competitor alone would constitute a

Associated. Page also copied engineering drawings necessary for the installation of avionics
packages. Page terminated the agreement in 1972, apparently within the provisions of the
agreement. After Page entered the G-II outfitting market, the relative market positions of
Page and Associated were reversed. Id. at 1344-46, 1348-50.

132. Id. at 1349.
133. Id. at 1349-50.
134. Id. at 1349. "In determining the relevant market [one] must consider the follow-

ing factors: (1) The lack of reasonable interchangeability of use between the product," the
service itself, or both, and substitutes for it; "(2) industry or public recognition of the rele-
vant market as a separate economic entity;" (3) the peculiar characteristics and uses of the
products, the services, or both; "(4) uniqueness of the production facilities required to man-
ufacture or provide the product" or the services, or both; (5) distinct customers for the
products or services, or both; "(6) distinct prices for the product" or service, or both; "(7)
sensitivity to price changes and; (8) specialized vendors of the product" or service, or both.
Id. at 1349 n.12. The relevant geographic market, the world, had been stipulated by the
parties. Id.

135. Id. at 1349.
136. Id. at 1349 n.11.
137. Id. at 1356-58.
138. Id. at 1354. Page engaged in numerous "dirty tricks" such as bribing Grumman

officials, bribing foreign officials of governments purchasing the G-II, hiring away Associ-
ated's employees, and copying Associated's engineering drawings. Id. at 1346-48.
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section 2 violation, the court did observe that the evidence was suf-
ficient to show that Page's conduct would have a "significant" and
"more-than-temporary" effect on competition. " 9 Thus, certain
business torts can be exclusionary.1 0

When determining whether certain conduct is exclusionary as
to overall competition, it is necessary to judge such conduct
against the relevant market.14 1 In Associated Radio the relevant
market was closed since the version of the G-II at issue was sched-
uled for only four more years of production, an insufficient period
to recover start-up costs.142 Judged against this background, Page's
conduct amounted to the exercise of monopoly power.

IV. ROBINSON-PATMAN ACT

Section 2(a) of the Clayton Act, as amended by the Robinson-
Patman Act, 14 makes it "unlawful for any person engaged in com-
merce . . . either directly or indirectly, to discriminate in price be-
tween different purchasers of commodities of like grade and quali-
ty . . . -4 There are six basic pre-conditions to a violation.1 4 5

First, two sales must be made in commerce to different customers
at approximately the same time but at different prices.1"6 Second,
the sales must be sales in the technical legal sense, not leases, li-
censes, or consignment arrangements. 4 7 Third, a statutory defense
exists for price changes in response to altered market or marketa-
bility changes. s4 8 Fourth, the sale must involve personal property;

139. Id. at 1354.
140. Id.
141. Id.
142. Id.
143. 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1976).
144. Id.
145. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 218, at 679-80.
146. Id. It is implicit that there must be two sales for discrimination to occur. See

Bruce's Juices, Inc. v. American Can Co., 330 U.S. 743, 755 (1947).
147. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 218, at 679. See Export Liquor Sales v. Ammex

Warehouse Co., 426 F.2d 251 (6th Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 400 U.S. 1000 (1971); Loren Spe-
cialty Mfg. Co. v. Clark Mfg. Co., 360 F.2d 913 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 385 U.S. 957 (1966);
Students Book Co. v. Washington Law Book Co., 232 F.2d 49 (D.C. Cir. 1955), cert. denied,
350 U.S. 988 (1956); Record Club of America, Inc. v. Columbia Broadcasting Sys., Inc., 310
F. Supp. 1241 (E.D. Pa. 1970).

148. 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1976). "[Nlothing herein contained shall prevent price changes
from time to time where in response to changing conditions affecting the market for or the
marketability of the goods concerned . I..." Id. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 218, at 679.
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services and intangibles are excluded.1 4 9 Fifth, the sales must in-
volve items of like grade and quality. '50 Sixth, there must be either
a direct or indirect difference in prices. 51

During the survey period, two cases presented the issues of
whether there were two sales at different prices and whether the
sales were "in commerce."

In General Chemicals, Inc. v. Exxon Chemical Co., USA, 15'
the plaintiff allegedly received approximately one-half the amount
of polyethylene scrap that a lower bidder received."' Although the
plaintiff did demonstrate the price variance, the sale was outside
the prohibitions of section 2(a)15 1 since the plaintiff was unable to
show that the sale was for "use, consumption, or resale within the
United States. 1 5 5 Only sales in commerce within the United
States are subject to the Clayton Act.

In Delta Marina, Inc. v. Plaquemine Oil Sales, Inc.,'" plain-
tiff Delta Marina, a petroleum retailer, alleged that Plaquemine, a
wholesaler, violated the Robinson-Patman Act after the defendant
began charging a price higher than that contracted.'17 The evi-
dence failed to show whether other customers of Plaquemine were
offered similar contract terms. Regarding the "in commerce" re-
quirement, the court noted that the phrase means "in interstate
commerce" and that Plaquemine was neither "engaged in com-
merce" " nor were any of the allegedly discriminatory sales made
in commerce within that meaning.159 Although the court concluded
that the evidence was insufficient to find a violation, it did proceed
to consider the defendant's claim that an antitrust violation is a

149. TV. Signal Co. v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 462 F.2d 1256 (8th Cir. 1972). L.
SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 218, at 680.

150. FTC v. Borden Co., 383 U.S. 637 (1966). L. SuLuAN, supra note 1, § 218, at 680.
151. Corn Prods. Ref. Co. v. FTC, 324 U.S. 726 (1945). L. SULLVAN, supra note 1, §

218, at 680.
152. 625 F.2d 1231 (5th Cir. Sept. 1980). See notes 110-18 supra, and accompanying

text.
153. Id. at 1232.
154. 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1976).
155. Id. 625 F.2d at 1234.
156. 644 F.2d 455 (5th Cir. May 1981).
157. Id. at 456. The contract provided that Delta could purchase diesel fuel at 11/2*

above Plaquemine's cost. Id.
158. See Littlejohn v. Shell Oil Co., 483 F.2d 1140, 1143-45 (5th Cir.) (en banc), cert.

denied, 414 U.S. 1116 (1973).
159. 644 F.2d at 457.
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contract defense. 6 Citing Kelly v. Kosuga,"61 the court stated that
"an antitrust violation is a defense to enforcement of a contract
only if 'the judgment of the Court [enforcing the contract] would
itself be enforcing the precise conduct made unlawful by the
Act.' "162 Thus, according to the Fifth Circuit, while a single con-
tract might "intrinsically" violate the Act, it is still enforceable un-
less there are contemporaneous transactions which produce
discrimination.

V. CLAYTON ACT

A. Section 3

Section 3 of the Clayton Act provides that it is

unlawful for any person engaged in commerce, in the course of
such commerce, to lease or make a sale ... of goods ... or other
commodities. . or fix a price charged therefor ... on the condi-
tion, agreement, or understanding that the lessee or purchaser
... shall not use or deal in the goods ... or other commodities

of a competitor .. .of the lessor or seller, where the effect...
may be to substantially lessen competition or tend to create a mo-
nopoly in any line of commerce. 16

This section has been construed to apply to both exclusive dealing
agreements' and tying arrangements. 1 5 Although it is unclear
whether a "per se" or "rule of reason" approach governs exclusive
dealing agreements generally, 66 tying arrangements are subject to
per se analysis if the seller occupies a monopolistic position or if
commerce is substantially restrained. 167 In Bob Maxfield, Inc. v.
American Motors Corp.,168 the Fifth Circuit considered both an ex-

160. Id. at 458.
161. 358 U.S. 516 (1959).
162. 644 F.2d at 458 (quoting Kelly v. Kosuga, 358 U.S. 516, 570 (1959)).
163. 15 U.S.C. § 14 (1976).
164. Standard Fashion Co. v. Magrane-Houston Co., 258 U.S. 346, 356-57 (1922).
165. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 150, at 431. A tying arrangement involves the seller's

refusal to supply the buyer with a particular product unless the buyer agrees to also take
another product. Id.

166. See Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal Co., 365 U.S. 320 (1961); Standard Oil Co.
v. United States, 337 U.S. 293 (1949).

167. Northern Pac. Ry. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1 (1958); International Salt Co. v.
United States, 332 U.S. 392 (1947).

168. 637 F.2d 1033 (5th Cir. Feb. 1981), cert. denied, 50 U.S.L.W. 3248 (U.S. Oct. 5,

[Vol. 13:285



ANTITRUST

clusive dealing agreement and an alleged tying arrangement. Plain-
tiff had operated an American Motors franchise for approximately
one year before the defendant terminated the franchise.'09 The
Fifth Circuit followed a Supreme Court case, Tampa Electric Co.
v. Nashville Coal Co., 17 0 in holding that an exclusive dealing con-
tract does not violate section 3 of the Clayton Act unless there is a
substantial foreclosure of competition.17 ' Thus, the Fifth Circuit
applied a form of rule of reason analysis to exclusive dealing agree-
ments.1 7 ' The tying arrangement issue was based on the plaintiff's
assertion that American Motors engaged in "full-line forcing" by
not providing the plaintiff with popular small cars unless slower-
selling large cars were also taken.1' The court noted that a tying
arrangement has four characteristics: "'(1) two separate products,
the tying product and the tied product; (2) sufficient market power
in the tying market to coerce purchase of the tied product; (3) in-
volvement of a not insubstantial amount of interstate commerce in
the tied market; and (4) anticompetitive effects in the tied mar-
ket.' "174 In American Motors the court found the coercion element
lacking despite vigorous efforts by defendant's representatives to
make the plaintiff take large cars and despite the defendant's or-
dering large cars for the plaintiff without its consent.175 The court
appeared to rely on the fact that American Motors never required
the plaintiff to take unwanted cars.1 6 Thus, a retailer can be sub-
jected to all forms of pressure reaching "the point of obnox-
iousness,' 77 even having the manufacturer ship unordered goods,
and no violation will be found unless there is an explicit require-
ment that forces the tied product on the retailer.'

1981).

169. Id. at 1035.

170. 365 U.S. 320 (1961).

171. 637 F.2d at 1036.

172. Id.

173. Id.

174. Id. at 1037 (quoting Driskill v. Dallas Cowboys Football Club, Inc., 498 F.2d 321,
323 (5th Cir. 1974)).

175. 637 F.2d at 1037.

176. Id.

177. Id.

178. Id. at 1037-38.
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B. Section 7

Section 7 of the Clayton Act prohibits either acquisitions or
mergers that would substantially lessen competition.1 9 Although
banks are excluded from the operation of this section by the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Act, 80 the Bank Holding Company Act'8 '
borrows from the Clayton Act to establish standards for the Fed-
eral Reserve Board (Board) to utilize when determining whether to
refuse bank mergers. 82 In Mercantile Texas Corp. v. Board of
Governors,'ss the plaintiff bank holding company challenged a
Board refusal to allow a merger between the plaintiff and a smaller
bank holding company.'" The Fifth Circuit held that the standard
for rejecting a proposed merger under the Bank Holding Company
Act is the same as under section 7 of the Clayton Act as indicated
by congressional intent to create a uniform standard for evaluating
mergers. 85 The Board's refusal of the merger was based on a find-
ing that the merger would eliminate "actual potential competi-
tion." 8 6 According to the "actual potential competition" doctrine,
if a market outsider is prevented from acquiring a market insider,
the outsider will enter the market independently and thus generate
more competition.18 7 While the Fifth Circuit did not approve the
application of the doctrine, it did indicate that the doctrine has
"logical force and is consonant with the language and policy of the
Clayton Act."' 88 The court remanded the issue of "actual potential
competition" to the Board for further findings that would support
a violation under the doctrine.8 9 Because the doctrine involves dif-

179. 15 U.S.C. § 18 (1976). The Fifth Circuit reviewed the application of § 7 to holding
companies in Jim Walter Corp. v. FTC, 625 F.2d 676 (5th Cir. Sept. 1980), discussed supra
notes 29-34.

180. 12 U.S.C. § 1828(c) (1976).
181. Id. § 1842(c).
182. Mercantile Tex. Corp. v. Board of Governors, 638 F.2d 1255 (5th Cir. Feb. 1981).
183. 638 F.2d 1255 (5th Cir. 1981).
184. Id. at 1259.
185. Id. at 1261-62.
186. Id. at 1263-64. The Board may have used the potential competition doctrine as a

post-hoc rationale. Id. at 1264. For an explanation of the inconsistent terminology of using
"actual" to describe the future and "potential" to describe the present, see id.

187. Id. at 1264.
188. Id. at 1265. The Supreme Court has avoided the issue twice. See United States v.

Marine Bancorporation, 418 U.S. 602 (1974); United States v. Falstaff Brewing Co., 410 U.S.
526 (1973).

189. 638 F.2d at 1266.
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ficult economic prediction, the court listed four areas of inquiry to
which the Board should direct its findings: (1) market concentra-
tion, (2) potential competition, (3) probability of procompetitive
entry, and (4) significant procompetitive effects of independent en-
try.190 Although never saying so directly, the Fifth Circuit may
have approved the use of the "actual potential competition" doc-
trine as a means of determining whether a violation of the Clayton
Act has occurred.

The Second Circuit, in United States v. Siemens Corp.,19'
stated that the "actual potential competition" doctrine required
proof of (1) an oligopolistic market; (2) a proposed acquisition of
one of the large firms in the market by a company, which, if not for
the proposed acquisition, would enter the market de novo or would
acquire a firm presently in the market but not possessing a signifi-
cant share of the market; and (3) the acquiring firm's impact on
competition.192 Because the proof required by this standard is sub-
ject to self-serving testimony by management and difficult
problems in economic prediction, the doctrine has been criticized
as inadequate in determining whether a Clayton Act violation has
occurred.198 Extensive factual findings are necessary,'" and the re-
quired economic evaluation may be beyond judicial expertise.
However, the Fifth Circuit has apparently accepted the doctrine as
a viable test of whether potential competition has been harmed.

VI. EXEMPTIONS

The business of insurance, where subject to state regulation, is
exempted from application of the antitrust statutes by the McCar-
ran-Ferguson Act.198 Determining whether activities of insurance

190. Id. at 1266-72.
191. 621 F.2d 499 (2d Cir. 1980).
192. Id. at 504-05.
193. See Kaplan, Potential Competition and Section 7 of the Clayton Act, 25 ANrTI-

TRUST BULL. 297 (1980); see also Brodley, Potential Competition Mergers: A Structural
Synthesis, 87 YALE L.J. 1 (1977).

194. Mercantile Tex. Corp. v. Board of Governors, 638 F.2d at 1266-72.
195. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1011-1015 (1976). Section 1012 provides in part:

(a) The business of insurance, and every person engaged therein, shall be sub-
ject to the laws of the several States which relate to the regulation or taxation of
such business.

(b) No Act of Congress shall be construed to invalidate, impair, or supersede
any law enacted by any State for the purpose of regulating the business of insur-
ance . . .: Provided, That after June 30, 1948. ... the Sherman Act .... the
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companies should be classified as "business of insurance" has often
led to confusion, a situation the Supreme Court attempted to re-
solve in Group Life & Health Insurance Co. v. Royal Drug Co.""
In Royal Drug various pharmacies dispensed prescriptions to Blue
Shield policy holders at a rate set by agreement.1 9 7 The court's
holding that the agreements were not within the business of insur-
ance was based on the narrow construction that looks to the in-
surer/insured relationship and the basic risk-spreading function of
the industry.9 8 While the agreements might constitute a sound
business practice, there is a distinction between business activities
of an insurance company and the business of insurance.'"

In Thompson v. New York Life Insurance Co.,2 °0 the Fifth
Circuit considered whether the business of insurance exemption
applied to an insurance agent's employment contract that con-
tained certain restrictions on the agent's business activities. 01 The
agent in Thompson had entered into a contract to solicit insurance
and serve as an underwriter for New York Life.2 0 2 Approximately
one year after entering into the first contract, Thompson executed
a second optional contract termed a "Nylic," which provided as an
incentive amounts paid in addition to the commission received. 03

Although there were several conditions to Nylic membership, the
primary issue concerned the provision that the agent "must not
engage in any other business or occupation for remuneration or
profit during the Contract Year without the written consent of the
Company."204

Clayton Act, and. . . the Federal Trade Commission Act ... shall be applicable
to the business of insurance to the extent that such business is not regulated by
State law.

Id. § 1012.
196. 440 U.S. 205 (1979).
197. Id. at 214.
198. Id. at 214-15.
199. Id.
200. 644 F.2d 439 (5th Cir. May 1981).
201. Id. at 441-43.
202. Id. at 441. The soliciting agent's initial contract was entered into on March 22,

1957. It authorized the agent to act as an independent contractor in his solicitations. Id.
203. Id. Thompson's application for the second contract was approved on March 6,

1958.
204. Id. Other conditions which the Fifth Circuit considered pertinent on the appeal

were that the agent operate continuously during the year under the contract, that the agent
not represent any other insurance company without the permission of New York Life, and
that the agent procure policies in a total amount not less than $50,000.
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In 1972, without New York Life's permission, Thompson built
a motel-restaurant in Atlanta.2 05 Management of the investment
consumed much of Thompson's time and resulted in his failure to
meet the minimum policy procurement requirement.206 On discov-
ering his unauthorized business activities and his failure to obtain
sufficient policies, the insurance company terminated both con-
tracts in 1976.20 Thompson alleged that the Nylic employment re-
strictions were a per se violation of section 1 of the Sherman
Act.2 0 New York Life responded that the contract provisions were
within the "business of insurance" exemption and counterclaimed
for commissions paid to Thompson on cancelled policies.2 0 9 The
trial court granted New York Life's motion for summary
judgment.2 10

The Fifth Circuit's consideration of the application of the ex-
emption to an insurance agent's employment contract was a case of
first impression.2 11 After reviewing the legislative history of the
McCarran-Ferguson Act, the court looked to Royal Drug for gui-
dance."' However, the Supreme Court had explicitly left the issue
of "transactions between an issuer and its agents" undecided.21

The Fifth Circuit relied on the Eighth Circuit's decision of Zelson
v. Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Co.,214 in which an insurance
company's requirement that agents provide certain securities ser-
vices was held not to fall within the exemption." 5 In Zelson the
Eighth Circuit focused on whether the restriction "concerned the
agent's insurance dealings as such." 2

1
6 In adopting this line of in-

quiry, the Fifth Circuit noted that the Nylic contract did not force
the agent to perform acts unrelated to insurance, as the Zelson re-

205. Id.
206. Id.
207. Id.
208. Id.
209. Id. at 441-42. The insurance company claimed that $16,311.16 in commissions

allegedly paid Thompson was to be repaid since the policies that the commissions covered
had been cancelled. The counterclaim was later amended to allege that $10,045.19 was due
for duplicate commissions and other charges. Id.

210. Id. at 442.
211. Id. at 443.
212. Id. at 442-44.
213. Royal Drug, 440 U.S. at 224 n.32.
214. 549 F.2d 62 (8th Cir. 1977).
215. Id. at 71.
216. Id. at 69.

19821



TEXAS TECH LAW REVIEW

quirement had, but merely limited the agent's business endeavors
to insurance. 217 The court held that the restrictions, regardless of
their merit as a policy decision, were within the business of insur-
ance exemption. 18 Thus, according to the Fifth Circuit, where an
insurance agent employment contract is at issue, an inquiry must
be made about the relationship between the employment restric-
tion and the core insured/insurer relationship.1 9 While the stan-
dard may not be particularly helpful in predicting what restric-
tions will be held exempt, the case does indicate that "incentive
programs" are within the exemption.2 0

VII. PROOF OF DAMAGES AND ATTORNEYS' FEES

Private enforcement of antitrust claims is encouraged by sec-
tion 4 of the Clayton Act,"' which provides for recovery of treble
damages, court costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees by a party
proving damages resulting from an antitrust violation. Proof of
damages requires the plaintiff to show that (1) the defendant's
conduct in violation of the antitrust laws was a material cause of
the plaintiff's injury and (2) that a reasonable estimation of dam-
ages is possible.2 2

In Malcolm v. Marathon Oil Co.," 8 the Fifth Circuit consid-
ered the proof of damages requirement in the context of alleged
predatory pricing.224 In Malcolm the plaintiff, an independent gas-
oline retailer, alleged that the defendants, major oil wholesalers,
provided temporary price subsidies to the plaintiff's competitors 225

and that the defendants' refusal to deal eliminated the plaintiff's
gasoline supply.226 Although the plaintiff's bookkeeping was not
exact, the Fifth Circuit held that such evidence was sufficient to

217. 644 F.2d at 444.
218. Id.
219. Id.
220. Id.
221. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976).
222. Terrell v. Household Goods Carriers' Bureau, 494 F.2d 16, 20 (5th Cir.), cert.

dismissed, 419 U.S. 987 (1974). See also Chrysler Credit Corp. v. J. Truett Payne, Inc., 607
F.2d 1133 (5th Cir. 1979), vacated and remanded, 49 U.S.L.W. 4526 (U.S. May 19, 1981).

223. 642 F.2d 845 (5th Cir. Apr. 1981).
224. Id. at 852-54.
225. Id. at 848-52.
226. Id.
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reverse the district court's directed verdict for the defendants . 21

The Fifth Circuit noted that once one proves the existence of a
predatory pricing scheme, proof of injury can be inferred.22 8 Proof
of the amount of damages is even less burdensome since evidence
that "border[s] on the speculative" is allowed.2 2 9

In Copper Liquor Inc. v. Adolph Coors Co.,2 3
0 the Fifth Cir-

cuit reviewed the damage and attorney's fee award granted by the
district court on a prior remand by the Fifth Circuit.2 ' After af-
firming the trial court's findings of injury and damages, 2  the Fifth
Circuit considered the proof of attorneys' fees in the context of the
guidelines that it had established in Johnson v. Georgia Highway
Express, Inc. 33 In Johnson the Fifth Circuit listed twelve factors
to use in determining reasonable attorneys' fees. 34 In remanding
the issue of attorneys' fees, the court held that a trial court should
do more than merely repeat the twelve factors to rationalize a de-
termination of reasonable attorneys' fees. " A trial court should
indicate the reasons for placing more emphasis on certain factors
and discounting others.3 6 Of the twelve factors, time and labor in-
volved, the customary fee, the amount involved, the results ob-
tained, and counsel's experience and ability are to receive the most

227. Id. at 858-60.
228. Id. at 855-58.
229. Id. at 858. See Hobart Bros. v. Malcolm T. Gilliland, Inc., 471 F.2d 894, 903 (5th

Cir. 1973).
230. 624 F.2d 575 (5th Cir. Aug. 1980).
231. Id. at 577. Copper Liquor, Inc. v. Adolph Coors Co., 506 F.2d 934 (5th Cir. 1975)

(remanding to the district court).

232. 624 F.2d at 580-81.
233. Id. at 581 (citing Johnson v. Georgia Highway Express, Inc., 488 F.2d 714 (5th

Cir. 1974)).
234. 624 F.2d at 581. The factors are the following:
(1) The time and labor required, (2) the novelty and difficulty of the questions, (3)
the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly, (4) the preclusion of other
employment by the attorney due to acceptance of the case, (5) the customary fee,
(6) whether the fee is fixed or contingent, (7) time limitations imposed by the
client or the circumstances, (8) the amount involved and the results obtained, (9)
the experience, reputation, and ability of the attorneys, (10) the "undesirability"
of the case, (11) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the
client, and (12) awards in similar cases.

Id. (quoting Johnson v. Georgia Highway Express, Inc., 488 F.2d 714, 717-19 (5th Cir.
1974)).

235. Id. at 584.
236. Id.
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consideration.3 7

VIII. CONCLUSION

Of the fourteen decisions rendered during the survey period,
essentially only two cases introduced new approaches to antitrust
problems by the Fifth Circuit. The actual potential competition
doctrine was apparently adopted by the court in Mercantile Texas
Corp. v. Board of Governors as a standard for determining whether
a violation of section 7 of the Clayton Act has occurred. In Thomp-
son v. New York Life Insurance Co., the court extended the "busi-
ness of insurance" exemption to insurance agent employment con-
tracts that provide "work incentives."

John H. Holman, Jr.

237. Id. at 583.
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